ROBERT ERROL MARCOTT,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CASE NO.: 83-288

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT NO.: 92-2045

J. Victor Africano Florida Bar Number: 0000622 Post Office Box 1450 Live Oak, Florida 32060 (904) 362-6930 Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the decision of the First District Court of Appeal which certified to this Court, a question of great public importance. On March 1, 1994, Appellant filed his Notice To Invoke The Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court. On March 11, 1994, this Court entered its Order postponing decision on jurisdiction and briefing schedule.

The Parties will be referred to as the Appellant and the State. The following symbol will be used:

R-Record On Appeal

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant is the step-grandfather of the three victims involved in this case (R-97). The two girls, S. N. D. and J. L. D. lived with their parents, but spent a great deal of time at Appellant's home (R-214). J. S. C., the young man, lived with Appellant (R-215).

Appellant spent a great deal of time with these children. They especially enjoyed going on camping trips (R-216).

On November 21, 1992, J. L. D. was having dinner with her parents when she somewhat spontaneously stated "Grandpa has dirty things" (R-41). When pressed by her parents to explain, she stated he had nasty magazines and movies (R-41).

Appellant was ultimately charged in an eight (8) count Information with the following crimes:

Sexual Battery Upon a Child Under 12 Years of Age. I. Sexual Battery Upon a Child Under 12 Years of Age. II. III. Sexual Battery Upon a Child Under 12 Years of Age. IV. Lewd Conduct in the Presence of a Child. v. Sexual Battery Upon a Child Under 12 Years of Age. VI. Lewd Act Upon a Child. Lewd Conduct in the Presence of a Child. VII. VIII. Lewd Conduct in the Presence of a Child (R-305).

Appellant proceeded to Non-Jury Trial. At the conclusion of the State's case-in-chief, Appellant moved for a Judgment of Acquittal as to Counts II, III, and VIII (R-125). The Trial Court granted the Motion as to Count VIII, denied the Motion as to Count III, and reserved ruling on the Motion as to Count II (R-129).

Count III charged Appellant with Committing a Lewd and Lascivious Act in the presence of J. L. D. (female, 6 years of age), by playing pornographic videotapes in her presence and pressuring her to watch them (R-305).

J. L. D. testified that she watched movies at her grandma's house showing grownup men and women doing nasty things with their private parts (R-545). S. N. D. testified that she has seen a movie in which naked people were doing nasty things to each other and putting their lips on each other's privates (R-442). S. N. D. also testified that, although Appellant told J. L. D. to watch a movie, J. L. D. wasn't watching it (R-442).

When Appellant testified, he candidly admitted that he had movies in his home that were sexually explicit (R-242). Although Appellant denied having deliberately shown either child these movies (R-282), he was nonetheless found guilty on Count III by the Trial Court (R-383).

Appellant was also convicted to Count VI which charged that he committed a Lewd and Lascivious Act upon S. N. D. (female, 9 years of age), by having her touch his penis and play with it (R-306).

Although S. N. D. testified that Appellant touched her mouth, chest and leg with his private (R-432), she never testified that he had her touch his penis and play with it.

Appellant was also convicted of Count VII which charged that he committed a Lewd and Lascivious Act in the Presence of J. S. C. (male, 12 years of age), by committing sexual acts upon J. L. D. and S. N. D. in his (J. S. C.'s) presence (R-306). J. S. C. did, in fact, testify that he observed J. L. D. and S. N. D. swim between Appellant's legs and play with his private parts (R-501), and put their mouths on his privates (R-501).

On June 8, 1992, the Trial Court adjudicated the Appellant guilty, and notwithstanding the fact that the Appellant's guideline sentence provided for a $3 \ 1/2 - 4 \ 1/2$ year recommended sentence and a $2 \ 1/2 - 5 \ 1/2$ year permitted sentence, the Trial Court exceeded the sentencing guidelines and sentenced the Appellant to a 15 year sentence on Count VI, 15 years probation for Count III to run consecutive to the sentence for Count VI and 15 years probation for Count VII to run consecutive to the sentence for Count III (R-298).

The Trial Court's written reasons for exceeding the guidelines were:

"The Defendant was in a position of a trusted familial custodial authority over <u>all</u> three victim, including the victim in Count VI. The position was used by the Defendant to deceive the parents of the children and to prey on each of the children in a premeditated manner over a long period of time. Not only was he an authority figure to the children, but he cultivated 'love' between them and himself in furtherance of his criminal purpose" (R-405).

After oral argument, the First District Court of Appeal

rendered its decision, one judge dissenting. The majority, including the dissent, affirmed the Appellant's first three points on appeal. By a two-one decision that Court affirmed the fourth point on appeal, which dealt with the validity of the two reasons the Trial Court relied upon to upwardly depart from the sentencing guidelines. The First District held that the Trial Court's reliance on the first reason, i.e., the abuse of trust in the exercise of custodial authority was invalid under this Court's holdings in <u>Wilson vs. State</u>, 567 So. 2d 425 (Fla. 1990); <u>Cumbie</u> <u>vs. State</u>, 574 So. 2d 1074 (Fla. 1991).

As to the Trial Court's second reason for upward departure, i.e., premeditation over a long period of time, the First District affirmed, with a dissent, and certified the following question to this Court:

> Should the language in <u>State vs. Obejes</u>, 604 So. 2d 475 (Fla. 1992), limiting the Court's holding solely to sexual offenses, be construed as permitting departure on the basis of heightened premeditation or calculation in sexual offenses generally, or should the holding be construed as limited strictly to the facts of that case, i.e. to sexual battery cases?

POINT INVOLVED ON APPEAL

Whether the language in <u>State vs. Obojes</u>, 604 So. 2d 475 (Fla. 1992), limiting the Court's holding solely to sexual offenses, be construed as permitting departure on the basis of heightened premeditation or calculation in sexual offenses generally, or should the holding be construed as limited strictly to the facts of that case, i.e., sexual battery cases?

ARGUMENT

Appellant's research has revealed that, other than being cited by the First District Court of Appeal, in this case, <u>Obejes</u>, <u>supra</u> has not been discussed or cited any other Appellate decision. Appellant would be hard pressed to author an argument, in support of his position, any more compelling than the one set forth in the dissenting opinion of Judge Ervin. Appellant therefore adopts, as his argument, the dissenting opinion of Judge Ervin set forth in the decision rendered by the First District Court of Appeal dated January 14, 1994.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, the Appellant respectfully submits that the dissenting opinion of Judge Ervin be adopted by this Court as the correct interpretation of <u>State vs. Obejes</u>, 604 So. 2d 475 (Fla. 1992).