FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

JUL 121994

By_____Chief Deputy Clerk

ROBERT ERROL MARCOTT,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 83,288

STATE OF FLORIDA,

v.

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0325791

THOMAS FALKINBURG ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0979790

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Robert Errol Marcott, appellant below and defendant at trial, will be referred to herein as "defendant." Respondent, the State of Florida, will be referred to herein as "the State." References to the record on appeal will be by the use of the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number(s).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State accepts those portions of defendant's statement of the case and facts which are relevant to the issue on appeal as being generally supported by the record, subject to the addition of the following:

1. Ms. Susie Rowe testified that S.N.D. told her that the abuse during the camping trips did not occur until the camping trips had been going on for two years. (R 16). J.S.C. also testified that the abuse did not occur until the third year of the camping trips. (R 507-9).

2. J.S.C. testified that the abuse would occur when his grandmother, defendant's wife, was working. (R 520). J.L.D. testified that defendant would send her into the bedroom when he (defendant) abused S.N.D. (R 550-1). S.N.D. testified that defendant would abuse her when her grandmother, defendant's wife, was not around. (R 444).

- 2 -

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The answer to the certified question is that a departure sentence in any sexual case in which there is heightened premeditation or calculation is proper. Defendant was convicted of lewd or lascivious conduct in the presence of a child and lewd act upon a child. Both of these crimes are general intent crimes which do not have as inherent components premeditation or calculation. The facts in the instant case show that defendant would create favorable opportunities so that he could abuse the children. Consequently, defendant was properly given a departure sentence, and this Court should answer the certified question to permit departure sentences based on premeditation or calculation in sexual offenses generally.

- 3 -

ARGUMENT

ISSUE (CERTIFIED QUESTION)

Should the language in <u>State v. Obojes</u>, 604 So. 2d 475 (Fla. 1992), limiting the court's holding exclusively to sexual offenses, be construed as permitting departure on the basis of heightened premeditation or calculation in sexual offenses generally, or should the holding be construed as limited strictly to the facts of that case, i.e., to sexual battery cases?

The answer to the certified question is that a departure sentence in any sexual offense case in which there is heightened premeditation or calculation is proper. The First District Court of Appeal was correct in holding that a departure sentence is permitted in more than just sexual battery cases. <u>See</u> Sp. Op. at 4. Consequently, this Court should affirm the First District Court of Appeal's decision.

It "is settled that a departure may not be based on any matter already factored into the guidelines' computations." <u>Hernandez v. State</u>, 575 So. 2d 640, 641 (Fla. 1991). Hence, "[a]n inherent component of the crime in question can never be used to justify a departure from the guideline." <u>Id.</u> at 642 (citation omitted). Obviously, if the conduct giving rise to the departure is not an inherent component of the crime then a sentence outside the guideline is proper. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Casteel v.</u> <u>State</u>, 498 So. 2d 1249, 1251-2 (Fla. 1986).

Premeditation or calculation is a valid reason for departure in sexual battery cases. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Casteel</u>, 498 So. 2d at 1252-

- 4 -

3; <u>State v. Obojes</u>, 604 So. 2d 474, 475 (Fla. 1992) ("[W]e hold that premeditation or calculation is a sufficient reason for departure in a sexual battery case only if it is of a heightened variety."). The rationale for permitting a departure sentence in a sexual battery case is that "[p]remeditation or calculation is not an inherent component of the crime of sexual battery." <u>Casteel</u>, 498 So. 2d at 1252-3 (quotation marks omitted).

This same rationale should apply to other sexual offenses as well. If premeditation or calculation is not an inherent component of the crime, then a departure sentence based on these factors is warranted, if supported by the evidence. In the instant case, defendant was found guilty of the crimes of lewd conduct in the presence of a child and lewd act upon a child. <u>See</u> (R 383-4). Consequently, in order to determine whether a departure sentence for these crimes based on premeditation or calculation is proper, it is necessary to determine whether premeditation or calculation is an inherent component of the crimes.

The crime of lewd or lascivious conduct in the presence of a child requires: (1) a child under the age of 16 years and (2) a person who knowingly commits a lewd or lascivious act in the presence of the child. §800.04(4), Fla. Stat. (1991); Werner v. State, 590 So. 2d 431, 435 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), aff'd, 609 So. 2d 585 (Fla. 1992). The crime of lewd act upon a child requires: (1) a child under the age of 16 years and (2) a person who handles, fondles, or makes an assault upon the child in a lewd, lascivious, or indecent manner. §800.04(1).

- 5 -

The crime of lewd or lascivious conduct in the presence of child does not require specific intent. <u>Bergen v. State</u>, 552 So. 2d 262 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), <u>disapproved of on other grounds</u>, <u>State</u> <u>v. Hernandez</u>, 596 So. 2d 671 (Fla. 1992). Similarly, the crime of lewd act upon a child requires no specific intent. <u>See</u> §800.04(1). These are general intent crimes that require no more thought or planning than that necessary to do the act itself.

Consequently, no particular length of time is required to form the intent necessary to commit these crimes, and no elaborate planning is necessary. Some offenders commit these crimes on the impulse of the moment when the opportunity presents itself. Other offenders create the opportunity to commit crimes on children by carefully planning and calculating a method to take advantage of children. Hence, all persons who commit these crimes are not similarly situated.

Clearly, these crimes are not the type of crime that will have premeditation or calculation as an inherent always 575 So. 2d 640. component. See, e.g., Hernandez v. State, Hernandez held that planning cannot support a departure sentence for the crimes of trafficking in cocaine and conspiracy to The court held that planning is a Id. traffic in cocaine. necessary component of the crimes. Id. at 642-3.

However, as discussed above, the crimes in the instant case do not have as a necessary component any planning. This Court has recognized that the crime of sexual battery does not have as an inherent component premeditation or planning. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>,

- 6 -

<u>Obojes</u>, 604 So. 2d at 475 (The court stressed "that heightened premeditation never can be a reason for departure in cases that inherently involve cold forethought."). The reasoning in <u>Obojes</u> applies equally to the crimes in the instant case and sexual offenses in general.

Sexual offenses must occur when opportunity presents a helpless victim. Sometimes the opportunity to commit a sexual offense occurs because external events happen to place a victim within an offender's grasp. However, other offenders <u>create</u> the opportunity to attack a helpless victim. Generally, the offender creates the opportunity through premeditation or calculation. Those sexual offenders who affirmatively create the opportunity to prey on a helpless victim are far more dangerous to society than those who simply act when fortuitous circumstances arise. They deserve, and society should logically impose, more severe punishment than those offenders who merely take advantage of an opportunity.

Consequently, a departure sentence because of premeditation or calculation in a sexual offense case is proper. Some sexual offenders are able to prey upon helpless victims because the offenders create the opportunity. These offenders deserve heightened punishment, and the facts in the instant demonstrate that defendant, through his premeditation, was properly given a departure sentence.

In sentencing defendant the trial court found the following:

- 7 -

The Defendant was in the position of a trusted familial custodial authority over <u>all</u> three victims, including the victim in Count VI. This position was used by the Defendant to deceive the parents of the children and to prey on each of the children in a premeditated manner over a long period of time. Not only was he an authority figure to the children, but he cultivated "love" between them and himself in furtherance of his criminal purpose.

(R 405) (emphasis in original). The trial court's finding of premeditation is amply supported by the record.

Ms. Susie Rowe testified that S.N.D. told her that the abuse during the camping trips did not occur until the camping trips had been going on for two years. (R 16). J.S.C. also testified that while the camping trips occurred for three years the abuse did not occur until the third year. (R 507-9). This is important because the abuse during the camping trips occurred during a time when Lois Marcott, defendant's wife, was staying home because she was unemployed. (R 109-10). Hence, defendant premeditated to use the camping trips as an opportunity to abuse the children.

There was additional evidence of premeditated abuse. J.S.C. testified that the abuse would occur when his grandmother, defendant's wife, was working. (R 520). J.L.D. testified that defendant would send her into the bedroom when he (defendant) abused S.N.D. (R 550-1). S.N.D. testified that defendant would abuse her when her grandmother, defendant's wife, was not around. (R 444). All of this evidence shows that defendant operated with cold forethought when he committed his crimes.

- 8 -

In sum, a departure sentence based upon premeditation and calculation is proper in more than just sexual battery cases. In the instant case, the record reveals that defendant would premeditate to get the victims away from their grandmother or each other so that he could abuse them. This premeditation is not an inherent component of the crimes defendant was convicted of. Consequently, defendant's departure sentence was proper, and this Court should affirm the First District's decision and should answer the certified question to allow departure sentences based on premeditation or calculation in sexual offenses generally.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that this Court affirm the First District Court of Appeal's decision and answer the certified question to allow departure sentences based on premeditation or calculation in sexual offenses generally.